Factors influencing appearance appeals for decreasing unsafe tanning behaviors

by

Aaron Entringer

B.A., Augustana University, 2014

### A THESIS

submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

### MASTER OF SCIENCE

Department of Psychological Sciences College of Arts and Sciences

KANSAS STATE UNIVERSITY Manhattan, Kansas

2017

Approved by:

Major Professor Laura Brannon, Ph.D.

# Copyright

© Aaron Entringer 2017.

## Abstract

In a two-study thesis, the current project compares the effectiveness of various messages aimed at reducing unsafe high-end tanning behaviors. Study 1 used messages focused on either the appearance or health consequences of tanning in an effort to reduce the intention of unsafe high-end tanning behaviors. The results indicated that participants did not differ in their highend sun tanning frequencies as a result of the message condition, but that there was an interaction effect between message type and gender, such that appearance messages were most effective at reducing unsafe tanning behaviors for females. However, upon further examination of the appearance messages, it was noted that there were two primary aspects of appearance content that were present: aging and blemishes. Therefore, Study 2 examined whether the gender effect that was present in Study 1 was being driven by either the aging or blemish content of the messages. Surprisingly, it was found in Study 2 that aging messages were more effective on male participants than female participants at reducing intention of unsafe high-end tanning behaviors. Additionally, it was found in Study 2 that graphic images effectively decreased intention to perform unsafe high-end tanning behaviors. These findings along with their implications are discussed.

# **Table of Contents**

List of Figures vi
List of Tables
Chapter 1 - Overview
Dangers of Tanning1
Tanning Motivations
Chapter 2 - Study 1
Appearance vs. Health
Hypotheses
Chapter 3 - Study 1 Method 11
Participants11
Measures
Procedure
Chapter 4 - Study 1 Results
Chapter 5 - Study 1 Discussion
Chapter 6 - Study 2
Aging vs. Blemishes
Image Use
Hypotheses
Chapter 7 - Study 2 Method
Participants
Measures
Procedure
Chapter 8 - Study 2 Results
Chapter 9 - Study 2 Discussion
Chapter 10 - General Discussion
References
Appendix A - Study 1 Pretest
Appendix B - Study 1 Posttest
Appendix C - Study 1 Appearance and Health Messages

Appearance Message:	51
Health Message:	51
Appendix D - Study 2 Pretest	53
Appendix E - Study 2 Posttest	54
Appendix F - Study 2 Aging and Blemish Messages	55
Aging Message:	55
Blemish Message:	55
Appendix G - Graphic Images	57
Aging Image	57
Blemish Image	57

# List of Figures

Figure 1. Number of high-end days per month that participants were willing to sunbathe after	
having read the message.	. 15
Figure 2. Number of high-end days per month that participants were willing to sunbathe after	
having read the message.	. 34

# List of Tables

Table 1. Number of Days Intended to Sunbathe in Future High-End Months - Estimated	
Marginal Means	15
Table 2. Number of Days Intended to Sunbathe in Future High-End Months - Estimated	
Marginal Means	33

## **Chapter 1 - Overview**

The primary purpose of this project was to examine the current appeals that are being used to reduce unsafe tanning behaviors. Ultimately, it was the project's goal to determine which appeals were most effective for certain individuals in an effort to provide more personalized and effective communication strategies in regards to the promotion of safe tanning behaviors. What follows is a discussion of the dangers of unsafe tanning, as well as the current state of research on tanning motivations and interventions that have been utilized to date. This will culminate in Study 1, which compared the effectiveness of appearance messages and health messages on reducing unsafe tanning behaviors among participants. Given this first study's findings, it was apparent that a follow-up study was necessary in order to further explore the nature of appearance messages. This led to Study 2, which sought to determine the effectiveness of messages containing content that focused on the aging effects of tanning and messages containing content that focused on the blemish effects of tanning. Study 2 also analyzed the results across genders to determine which message types are most effective for both males and females. In addition to these variables, Study 2 also included the use of graphic images to determine what effect, if any, they may have when combined with both aging and blemish messages.

## **Dangers of Tanning**

Skin cancer is one of the most prevalent health concerns facing the U.S. The American Academy of Dermatology (AAD) reports that the incidence rate of skin cancer exceeds the rates of all other cancers combined in the U.S. (AAD, 2016). In addition, the AAD reports that each year in the United States, nearly 5 million people will be treated for skin cancer (AAD, 2016). Many of these cases are non-melanoma forms of skin cancer. Although non-melanoma skin

cancer is not something to be taken lightly, it is not the most serious form of skin cancer. In most cases, it is highly treatable and usually non-life threatening. The most serious cases are those that are classified as melanomas. The aforementioned AAD report finds that melanoma is responsible for 75% of skin cancer deaths in the U.S. (American Academy of Dermatology, 2016). The report also estimated that 144,860 new cases of invasive melanoma would be diagnosed in 2016, and that there would be 10,130 deaths in 2016 as a result of the disease (AAD, 2016). To reframe those numbers, that means that a new case of melanoma is diagnosed about once every 4 minutes in the U.S. and that there would be roughly one death from the disease every hour. Moreover, treatments for such cases of melanoma are estimated to cost over 3.3 billion dollars in the U.S. per year (AAD, 2016). These numbers highlight the fact that there is a very serious and expensive health problem that is plaguing the U.S.

Melanoma is primarily caused by ultraviolet (UV) radiation. A report by the Skin Cancer Foundation found that 86% of melanoma cases were attributable to UV radiation (Skin Cancer Foundation, 2016). UV radiation is obtained through either direct exposure to the sun's rays or through other artificial sources of UV light. Whenever an individual goes outside without proper skin protection, they are susceptible to UV radiation. Oftentimes, this can be the result of an individual wishing to tan outdoors. In addition, the use of indoor tanning beds also provide direct exposure to UV radiation. It is these acts of tanning that this project focuses on.

In reviewing prior research, we can see just how prevalent tanning has become in the U.S. Abar et al. (2010) report that every day, close to 2 million Americans will visit a tanning salon. Of that number, around 70% are females between the ages of 16 and 49. Basch, Hillyer, Basch, and Neugut (2012) conducted a survey of 153 college undergraduates and found that nearly 88% of respondents reported spending more than 3 hours per day outdoors during the

summer. Of that number, Basch et al. (2012) found that only 17% of them indicated that they always used sunscreen when going outdoors. Perhaps an even more surprising finding from Basch et al. (2012) is that 60% of their respondents reported recent indoor tanning. The AAD (2016) came up with similar findings in their report, with 59% of college students, 35% of adults, and 17% of teens self-reporting using a tanning bed at some point in their lifetime. Such a large number of indoor tanners indicates that the desire for bronzed skin is widespread in our society, especially among young adults. As a result, it is not surprising to find that the most common form of cancer among women between the ages of 20 and 29 is melanoma (Abar et al., 2010). This information suggests that the desire for tanned skin has been creating a serious health problem for young adults in the U.S.

#### **Tanning Motivations**

Several research studies have looked at motivations for tanning among individuals. Two of the most prominent motivations studied have been appearance and health motivations. For instance, Heckman, Wilson, and Ingersoll (2009) surveyed participants to find whether they had an appearance orientation (i.e. a great concern about one's appearance) or a health orientation (i.e. a great concern about one's health) and then related those orientations to tanning. They found that appearance orientation was associated with sunburns and incidental summer sun exposure. Appearance orientation was also associated with participants being more worried about skin cancer, and more worried about photoaging (Heckman, Wilson, & Ingersoll, 2009). Furthermore, Hillhouse, Turrisi, and Kastner (2000) compared tanning salon attitudes between those who tanned for appearance reasons and those who tanned for health reasons. The researchers found that those who were motivated to tan for appearance reasons reported significantly more favorable attitudes towards tanning salons. These findings were further

corroborated in a more recent study from Darlow, Heckman, and Munshi (2016), which looked at tanning motivations among high school girls. Here, researchers found that appearance was a significant motivation for sunbathing.

Another study from Beasley and Kittel (1997) identified key motivations for visiting tanning salons. They identified factors such as the perceived attractiveness of tans, socialization, and even perceived health as motivating factors. While it may seem odd that one might choose to tan for health reasons, there is a way to make sense of it. Researchers Yoo and Kim (2014) looked at health motivations to tan and reasoned that those who saw tanning as a healthy behavior were associating it with other healthy activities. For instance, if an individual is playing a sport outdoors while attempting to get a tan, they may look at it as a healthy behavior, simply because they were exercising at the time.

Research on tanning motivation has also looked at possible gender differences. A study from Cafri et al. (2008) developed a scale to assess appearance reasons to tan. This scale included dimensions such as appearance reasons to tan, appearance reasons not to tan, and sociocultural reasons for tanning. The researchers found that females scored higher than males on all three of the aforementioned dimensions. These findings would seem to indicate that women are more influenced by the appearance aspects of tanning in their decision of whether or not to tan. However, there is also research that indicates a gender difference in the opposite direction. A study by Banerjee, Campo, and Greene (2008) presented both male and female participants with photographs that showed the same woman with three varying levels of tanned skin (light, medium, and dark) and asked them about the attractiveness and perceived health, height, and weight of each of the photographed models. The results from this study indicated that only the male respondents perceived the dark-tanned woman as more physically attractive

and thinner than the medium-tanned and light-tanned woman. In addition, males also found the dark-tanned woman to be more interpersonally attractive and healthier than the medium-tanned woman. Female participants did not show different perceptions of the physical attractiveness, interpersonal attractiveness, or perceived health of any of the three images. Day, Wilson, Hutchinson, and Roberts (2016) were also able to find support for the idea that men are motivated to tan for appearance reasons. In this study, the researchers found that not only did males also have a desire for a tanned appearance, but they were also influenced to tan by peer sociocultural perceptions, indicating that males believe a tanned appearance is desirable among their peers. Based on the complex findings of these studies, it appears that there still is not a complete answer as to how tanning motivations differ by gender.

## Chapter 2 - Study 1

The purpose of Study 1 was to explore the effectiveness of appearance versus health messages regarding tanning as it pertains to lowering high-end tanning intentions. A decision was made to focus on high-end tanning intentions rather than an average of intentions due to the increased risk associated with tanning heavily (Dennis et al., 2008; Wu, Han, Laden, & Qureshi, 2014). Essentially, infrequent tanning is much less likely to lead to negative health outcomes. Instead, consistent tanning and frequent sunburns are likely to result in increased risks for things like skin cancer and melanoma. As such, it is these more dangerous behaviors that will be focused on, as opposed to the more often-used "average" of behavior. Additionally, the results were analyzed to look for possible gender differences in regards to future tanning intentions. A summary of the relevant literature pertaining to tanning the effectiveness of appearance and health messages follows.

#### **Appearance vs. Health**

Studies that have looked at interventions to promote safe tanning behaviors have typically focused on appearance (Abar, Turrisi, Hillhouse, Loken, & Stapleton, 2010; Jackson & Aiken, 2006; Loosemore & Grogan, 2015; Stapleton, Turrisi, Hillhouse, Robinson, & Abar, 2010). In each of these cited instances, the interventions were found to be at least somewhat successful, meaning that appealing to one's appearance can be an effective way to promote safe tanning behaviors. Interventions that have looked at both appearance and health appeals in an effort to promote safe tanning behaviors have occurred much less frequently, though there are a few that stand out. Jones and Leary (1994) conducted a study in which participants read an essay that focused on the consequences that tanning can have on either one's health or one's appearance. Here, health messages were comprised of content that described the health risks of tanning, listed

incidence statistics for skin cancer, and described types of cancer. The appearance messages described the negative effects that tanning can have on appearance, such as scarring, wrinkling, and aging. Jones and Leary (1994) found that appearance essays were more effective than health essays at raising participants' concerns about the harmful effects of the sun and at increasing intention to use sunscreen.

A study from Thomas et al. (2011) also compared the effects of appearance appeals vs. health appeals. The researchers presented participants with messages on the topic of skin cancer that included information on either appearance issues associated with tanning (e.g. premature aging) or health issues associated with tanning (e.g. premature death). In this manipulation, the researchers' messages contained four lines of factual data concerning skin cancer that was followed by six lines of either appearance-framed or health-framed information. The authors then measured the perceived threat of skin cancer, intentions to perform different skin cancer prevention behaviors, and body consciousness among the participants. They found that participants who viewed the appearance message reported higher perceived threat of skin cancer than participants who read the health message. However, there was no difference between the two message conditions in terms of their intentions to perform different skin cancer prevention behaviors (Thomas et al., 2011). In addition, Thomas et al. (2011) found that loss-framed messages (i.e. messages centered on the costs of tanning) were more effective than gain-framed messages (i.e. messages centered on the benefits of not tanning) at decreasing future intention to tan. This finding, coupled with findings from Mays and Zhao (2015), where it was also found that loss-framed messages were more effective than gain-framed messages at reducing future tanning intentions, led to the decision to use loss-framed messages in Study 1.

A recent study from Morris, Cooper, Goldenberg, Arndt, & Gibbons (2014) also looked at both appearance and health appeals. The main interest of this study was looking at the effect of priming mortality when used with both appearance and health appeals on the dangers of tanning. When given reminders of their own mortality, participants who were provided with appearance appeals reported greater intention to use sun protection than participants who were provided with health appeals. The authors posited that the Goldenberg & Arndt's (2008) Terror Management Health Model (TMHM), which suggests that when thoughts of death are accessible, health decisions are likely to be aimed at maintaining self-esteem, could primarily explain this effect. When participants were given a reminder of their own mortality, it may have elicited a desire to maintain their self-esteem by improving (or conversely, not damaging) their appearance. In an earlier study, Mahler, Fitzpatrick, Parker, & Lapin (1997) showed participants slideshows consisting of either health content or content related to photoaging (i.e. aging of the skin due to UV radiation). Participants from the photoaging group were found to be more likely to intend to share the information that they had learned from the slideshow with their peers (Mahler et al., 1997). More importantly, using a spectrophotometer (a device used to measure melanin content), they found that participants from both intervention groups had lower melanin contents at a six-week follow-up than did participants from a control condition (Mahler et al., 1997). Melanin is the pigment that gives skin its color. The darker someone's skin is, the more melanin that they have. Having evidence of higher melanin content is an indication that someone has spent more time exposed to the sun. This evidence indicates that the control condition spent noticeably more time exposed the sun in between the study and its six-week follow-up than did the participants from either the health or photoaging groups.

As for gender differences, none of the aforementioned studies demonstrated a significant difference between males and females on either appearance or health appeals. Interestingly, while most of the previous research indicates that appearance appeals are more effective than health appeals, one study that used a population of only male construction workers found the opposite. In Stock et al.'s (2010) study on the matter, they provided their exclusively male participants with an educational video on either photoaging (one of the primary appearance defects caused by UV exposure) or skin cancer. The researchers found that participants who viewed the educational video on skin cancer reported higher levels of sun protection cognition, which was found to mediate for increased sun protection behaviors, as well as decreases in skin color. This finding suggests a context where health appeals may be more effective than appearance appeals. Given this information, and the contradictory findings on gender differences in tanning motivation, Study 1 sought to clarify the issue by providing more concrete results.

## **Hypotheses**

As mentioned, the purpose of Study 1 was to compare the effectiveness of appearance vs. health appeals on the promotion of safe tanning behaviors. Likewise, Study 1 sought to determine whether the effectiveness of these message types varied by gender. Study 1 used message type (i.e., message content focused on appearance-related consequences of tanning vs. message content focused on health-related consequences of tanning) and gender as independent variables, while assessing dependent variables of the 1) length of time that an individual intended to tan in the future and 2) frequency with which an individual intended to tan in the future. Both of these dependent variables were asked in the form of a high-end estimate (e.g. "When you are tanning most heavily, how many days per month would you be willing to sun-tan outdoors?").

This was done in an effort to account for the most maximal tanning behaviors of individuals, as opposed to just their "average" behaviors. As these maximal behaviors are likely to be more damaging and increase risk for negative health outcomes, we want to focus on this more damaging behavior. In addition, the following hypotheses were tested using reported past highend length of time and frequency of tanning, respectively, as covariates. This was done to ensure equality between groups. Based on the review of the literature mentioned above, the following hypotheses were tested.

*Hypothesis 1:* There will be a main effect of message type for both of the dependent variables, such that participants receiving an appearance message would report lower intended high-end frequency of outdoor tanning and lower intended high-end lengths of time for outdoor tanning than those receiving a health message.

*Hypothesis 2:* There will be an interaction effect between message type and gender for each of the dependent variables. This interaction effect would be such that the main effect in hypothesis one would be stronger for women than for men, with a greater difference between the effectiveness of appearance and health messages for women.

## **Chapter 3 - Study 1 Method**

#### **Participants**

The study included 494 undergraduate students (age: M = 19.87) participating in exchange for course credit (62% female, 38% male). Roughly 79% of all participants indicated that they previously sunbathed, while 36% of all participants indicated that they had previously used a tanning bed. It was found that 69.2% of prior sunbathers were female, compared to 90.3% of prior tanning bed users being female. For the purposes of analyses, only participants that had reported prior sunbathing or tanning bed use were included (n = 390).

#### Measures

Two primary questions were used as the pretest in Study 1 (see Appendix A). To assess past tanning behavior, participants indicated the frequency (number of days 0-30 in a month) with which they have tanned outdoors and the length of time spent tanning during each session (measured in minutes). Participants were asked to provide a high-end estimate of both of these behaviors. This high-end estimate asked participants to think about periods of time in their life where they were tanning the most. A high-end estimate was used in an effort to focus on periods of time where skin damage is most likely to occur. Findings from Dennis et al. (2008) indicate that an increased risk for melanoma is associated with an increasing number of sunburns. Additionally, Wu, Han, Laden, & Qureshi (2014) found that Caucasian women who had received five or more blistering sunburns between the age of 15 and 20, had an 80% increased risk for contracting melanoma. Wu et al. (2014) also note that these women had a 68% percent higher risk for basal cell carcinoma and squamous cell carcinoma, two other forms of skin cancer. Together, these findings indicate the dangers of heavily tanning and the need to focus on this more risky behavior. In the posttest, once participants had viewed their respective messages, they were asked to indicate their future intention for their high-end tanning behaviors (see Appendix B). These questions were in regards to the frequency and length of time they would spend sunbathing (e.g. "When you are tanning most heavily, how many days per month would you be willing to tan outside?"). As Hillhouse et al. (1997) concluded that measuring tanning intention is an adequate replacement for measuring actual tanning behavior, Study 1 opted for assessing tanning intentions rather than actual tanning behavior.

#### Procedure

After participants were successfully recruited, they began an online survey. First, participants were asked about their current high-end tanning habits (length of time and frequency). Following that, each participant was randomly assigned to view one of two message types (see Appendix C). One message type focused on the appearance-related consequences of tanning (e.g. "Freckles, age spots, spider veins on the face, and rough and leathery skin can all be traced to UV light exposure"). The other message focused on the health-related consequences of tanning (e.g. "Exposure to the UV rays damages DNA in the skin. When a person's body cannot repair the damaged DNA, cancer develops"). Both the appearance message and the health messages were approximately the same length, as they consisted of three paragraphs. Aside from emphasizing appearance in one message. Participants were allowed to view their message as long as they wished, and after they were finished reading one of the messages, participants were asked to indicate their future intentions regarding high-end outdoor tanning (length of time and frequency). After providing their future intentions towards tanning behaviors, participants were

asked to provide demographic information. Finally, after completing these questions, participants were debriefed and the study concluded.

To ensure that both the appearance and health messages were focusing on the consequences that they were intended to (i.e. the appearance message focused on appearance and the health message focused on health), a study was conducted asking participants to view both the appearance and health messages and respond to questions regarding their content. It was found that 31 out of 33 (93.9%) participants found the appearance message to be more focused on the appearance-related consequences of tanning than on the health-related consequences. Similarly, 31 out of 33 (93.9%) participants found the health message to be more focused on the health-related consequences of tanning than on the appearance-related consequences. Additionally, items were included for both messages that asked participants to rate their agreement on a 7-point Likert scale with the statements, "The message I just read focused on appearance-related consequences of tanning" and "The message I just read focused on healthrelated consequences of tanning". Through a paired samples t-test, it was found that participants' responses on the items for the appearance message were significantly different t(32)= 7.45, p < .01, with participants finding that the appearance message focused more on appearance-related consequences (M = 6.24, SD = 0.94) than health-related consequences (M =3.58, SD = 1.66). Likewise participants' responses on the items for the health message were significantly different t(32) = 7.91, p < .01, with participants finding that the health message focused more on health-related consequences (M = 6.36, SD = 1.22) than appearance-related consequences (M = 2.64, SD = 1.77).

## **Chapter 4 - Study 1 Results**

At the conclusion of the study, the data were analyzed using two separate 2 (message: appearance/health) X 2 (gender: male/female) ANCOVAs. One analysis was performed on the posttest high-end frequency measure and another was performed for the posttest high-end length of time measure. An ANCOVA was used here to covary the pretest measures of high-end frequency and length of time. Before analyzing the high-end length of time measure, it was noted that there was an exceedingly large range between scores. As such, there were a number of outliers noted on the measure. Unsurprisingly, the analysis for this high-end length of time measure, revealed that there was no main effect of message type, F(1, 361) = 0.31, p = .89, or gender, F(1, 361) = 1.28, p = .46. There was also no interaction effect found for the high-end length of time measure, F(1, 361) = 0.63, p = .43. As such, it appeared that the high-end frequency measure was much more appropriate for analysis, and indeed, there was a significant finding for the high-end intention of frequency of sunbathing (for estimated marginal means, see Table 1). In this analysis, the covariate was the number of days that participants would tan outdoors in typical high-end month, and the dependent variable was the number of days that participants intended to tan outdoors in a future high-end month. The results show that there was no significant main effect for message type, F(1, 349) = 0.92, p = .51, nor for gender, F(1, 349) =0.15, p = .76. However, the analysis did reveal a significant interaction effect between message type and gender, F(1, 349) = 4.06, p = .045. This was a crossover interaction, such that females who read the appearance message reported fewer days per month that they would be willing to suntan outdoors when they are tanning most heavily (M = 9.18) as compared to females that read the health message (M = 12.06) (See Figure 1). For males, those that read the appearance

message (M = 11.22) did not differ from those that read the health message (M = 11.16) in

regards to frequency of high-end sunbathing intentions.

Condition		М	SE
Appearance	Female	9.18	0.58
	Male	11.22	0.87
	Total	10.20	0.52
Health	Female	12.06	0.57
	Male	11.16	0.85
	Total	11.61	0.51
Total	Female	10.62	0.41
	Male	11.19	0.611

 Table 1. Number of Days Intended to Sunbathe in Future High-End Months - Estimated

 Marginal Means



Figure 1. Number of high-end days per month that participants were willing to sunbathe after having read the message.

## **Chapter 5 - Study 1 Discussion**

The results showed that there was partial support for hypothesis 2 and no support for hypothesis 1. Hypothesis 2, which stated that there would be an interaction effect such that women receiving appearance messages would report safer future high-end tanning intentions than women receiving health messages appeared to be only partially supported. While the proposed effect was found for high-end intentions of frequency of sunbathing, it was not found for the high-end measure of length of time. Meanwhile, there was no evidence from the results to indicate that there was a main effect of message type on either of the dependent variables (hypothesis 1).

An interesting point should be made regarding the significant difference of high-end frequency found between females who received appearance messages and females that received health messages. While some might believe that the difference between the appearance group (M = 9.18) and the health message group (M = 12.06) does not appear large, it must be understood with proper context. The Skin Cancer Foundation reports that a single tanning session results in a roughly 20% increased risk of skin cancer, with each additional session increasing the risk of skin cancer by about 2% (Skin Cancer Foundation, 2012). Coupled with the aforementioned studies from Dennis et al. (2008) and Wu et al. (2014), this information underscores the significantly increased risk of skin cancer that is associated with increased tanning. Even if the female participants who read appearance messages only reported roughly three fewer days of tanning than those that received health messages, that still represents a lowered risk for developing skin cancer. Any intervention that can decrease an individual's risk of skin cancer is something that should be encouraged.

The other primary takeaway messages concern the implications of the interaction effect that was found. First, it was thought that by utilizing a dependent variable focusing on high-end behaviors, as opposed to the usual measure of "typical" behavior in tanning studies, that we might be able to find a gender difference which had not yet appeared in studies comparing appearance vs. health interventions. In part, that was the purpose of Study 1, to investigate if a dependent variable that was more focused on the most dangerous tanning behaviors may identify any previously unfounded gender differences. As it appears from the results, using such a highend measure does indeed reveal significant gender differences between how males and females react to these types of appeals. From this information, we might gather that a high-end measure might be more attuned to potential gender differences than previously utilized measures of "typical" behavior. Second, given the results that were found in Study 1, it appears that messages with content focusing on the appearance consequences of tanning are more effective than messages with content focusing on the health consequences of tanning at reducing unsafe high-end tanning behaviors for women. Men, however, do not appear to differ much in regards to their future high-end tanning intentions depending on message type. These results seem to fit with previous research that shows that women are more concerned with appearance than men are (Halliwell & Dittmar, 2003). Based on these findings, it appears that future interventions to promote safe tanning behaviors for women should focus on appearance appeals. For men, it seems clear that more research is needed to determine the most effective intervention strategies for promoting safe tanning behaviors. The information gathered here should make a positive contribution to the knowledge base on tanning research that informs and influences campaigns to promote safe tanning behaviors more effectively. These efforts could lead to decreasing the rapidly growing incidence rate of melanoma and skin cancer in the U.S.

At the conclusion of Study 1, it became apparent that future research is needed to further explore appearance and health messages to determine which aspects of their content are most effective and for whom. For instance, the appearance messages that were included in Study 1 contained content that referred to both blemishes and aging. It seems possible that appearance messages were found to be more effective for women because they are more concerned with aging than men are (Halliwell & Dittmar, 2003). Specifically, women tend to view aging as something that is harmful to their appearance, whereas men may view aging as something that enhances their appearance by making them look more distinguished. As such, the appearance messages may have been doubly negative for women (as they don't want blemishes or to appear older), whereas these messages may have contained both a negative (blemishes) and a positive (looking older) for men. Given these apparent issues with the content of the appearance messages used in Study 1 and in other similar studies, it appeared that follow-up research was needed to tease these aspects apart. This would help determine which types of content in an appearance appeal (aging or blemish) are effective for both males and females.

## Chapter 6 - Study 2

Even though Study 1 found that appearance-focused messages were more successful than health-focused messages at reducing the intended frequency to sunbathe for women but not for men, it did not reveal which aspect of appearance appeals are causing the reduced intention. Furthermore, it did not reveal if some aspect of appearance appeals were non-concerning for men. Study 2 sought to rectify that in an effort to reduce unsafe tanning behaviors. This followup study looked at the effectiveness of appearance messages that contained content focused on aging vs. appearance messages that contained content focused on blemishes, as well as how the use of graphic images may impact the persuasiveness of each message. Additionally, Study 2 assessed any potential differences between males and females in regards to message type in order to see which message types were most effective and for whom. The purpose of Study 2 was to discover this information in an effort to provide a more informed basis for campaigns focused on promoting safer tanning intentions among both men and women.

### **Aging vs. Blemishes**

While it has been shown that appearance appeals can be effective at reducing unsafe tanning behavior, little research has been done to look at what aspects of appearance appeals make them more effective. The two primary appearance consequences of tanning are related to aging and blemishes. With aging consequences, the content focuses on the imperfections that lead to a person appearing older (e.g. liver spots, wrinkles, leathery skin, etc.). With blemish consequences, the content is instead focused on the imperfections that are unrelated to age (e.g. freckles, blotchy complexion, actinic keratoses, etc.). The aim of Study 2 was to further examine appearance appeals in an effort to understand which aspect makes them more persuasive for tanners.

The majority of studies that have used appearance appeals have included information on both aging and blemishes (e.g., Jones & Leary, 1994; Morris, Cooper, Goldenberg, Arndt, & Gibbons 2014; Thomas et al., 2011). While these studies are useful in determining that appearance appeals can be effective, they don't reveal which aspect of the appeals makes them more effective. Mahler, Fitzpatrick, Parker, & Lapin (1997) conducted a study which showed participants slideshows consisting of either health content or content related to photoaging (i.e. aging of the skin due to UV radiation). They found that participants from both intervention groups had lower melanin contents at a six-week follow-up than did participants from a control condition (Mahler et al., 1997). Additionally, participants from the photoaging group were found to be more likely to share the information that they had learned from the slideshow with their peers (Mahler et al., 1997). Another study from Loosemore and Grogan (2015) used aging software to show male participants what their faces would look like both with and without UV exposure. This intervention was found to be effective at reducing intended UV exposure among the participants (Loosemore & Grogan, 2015). Although these studies provide some utility, they also fail to address the non-aging related aspects of sun damage, as well as potential gender differences that could be present.

In regards to gender differences, multiple studies have found differences in concerns about appearance and aging. Pliner, Chaiken, & Flett, (1990) studied men and women between the ages of 10 and 79 years old and found that women were more concerned about physical appearance and reported lower appearance self-esteem than men. Moreover, this difference was found across all age groups. Another study from Ando and Osada (2009) found that women across all age groups had lower body satisfaction than men and that women also had a higher degree of appearance consciousness than men. These researchers also found that concern with

appearance tended to decrease gradually across age groups, with older individuals being less concerned with appearance than younger individuals. Additionally, Muth and Cash (1997) examined differences in body image between males and females between the ages of 18-49 and found that women had more negative evaluations of their body and showed a greater investment in their appearance than men. Taken together, these findings appear to indicate that women are concerned to a greater extent about their appearance than men are.

Halliwell and Dittmar (2003) conducted interviews with both men and women between the ages of 22 and 62 and found that men most often thought about their body in terms of functionality, whereas women most often thought about their body in terms of appearance. In addition, they noted that men looked at aging as something that improved upon their appearance while women looked at aging as something that had negative effects on their appearance (Halliwell & Dittmar, 2003). Another study from Sargent-Cox, Rippon, and Burns (2014) surveyed participants from a variety of age groups and found that the effects of aging on appearance were significantly more pronounced for women than for men. A study from Homan and Boyatzis (2009) asked older men and women to fill out measures regarding body attitudes and their anxiety towards aging. They found that men reported higher body satisfaction and lower anxiety about aging than women did.

Panek, Hayslip, and Pruett, (2014) conducted another study in which they interviewed both men and women over the age of 50 and asked them to recall incidents in which they felt old. The researchers found that for women, the incidents most often focused on their physical features and appearance. In addition, women tended to view these situations as negative and hurtful. For men, however, the incidents most often revolved around them receiving some sort of benefit or discount as a result of their age. This finding would indicate that men appear to be

more focused on the positives that come with the age, while women tend to view aging and its effects on appearance negatively. In a study focusing on the appearance concerns associated with smoking, Grogan, Fry, Gough, and Conner (2009) asked male and female participants between the ages of 17 and 24 years old to discuss their thoughts on smoking as it impacted appearance. Researchers found that women were significantly more concerned than men were with skin aging as a result of smoking. As these studies seem to indicate, it appears that there is considerable evidence that women tend to be more concerned with effects of aging on appearance than men are.

Counter to the aforementioned studies, which found women to be more concerned with aging than men were, one study found there to be no difference between genders. Wilcox (1997) conducted a study looking at aging attitudes for both men and women between the ages of 20 and 80 years old. Here, it was found that there was no apparent difference between men and women in regards to their perception of aging. Furthermore, this finding held up across age groups, with both younger and older adults having similar attitudes towards aging. Returning to Panek, Hayslip, and Pruett's (2014) study, it should also be noted that both men and women reported that recent incidents in which they felt old made them feel self-conscious and/or elicited a negative self-assessment. As such, it appears that there is at least some evidence that neither men nor women view aging positively.

In regards to research on blemish-related effects to one's appearance, there seems to be mixed findings. Cafri et al. (2008) surveyed both men and women on their attitudes towards the immediate skin damage that results from tanning (e.g. freckles, sunburn, peeling skin). It was found that women reported greater concern with these blemishes than men did. Lawler, Sugiyama, and Owen (2007) surveyed men and women between the ages of 20 and 65 years old

and found that women were more concerned than men about sun exposure and potential skin damage that may result from such exposure. Additionally, Kellett and Gawkrodger (1999) sampled patients with chronic acne to assess how this skin disorder has impacted their lives. Notably, it was found that women reported greater embarrassment as a result of their acne than men did.

While these studies indicate that women care more about blemish-related issues than men do, there is evidence that men are concerned to some extent with such issues. Returning to the aforementioned study from Grogan et al. (2009) concerning both male and female attitudes towards smoking, it was found that both men and women noted concerns about the yellowing of teeth and skin as a result of smoking. Similarly, Kellett and Gawkrodger's (1999) findings indicate that men were embarrassed to some extent by their chronic acne, albeit less so than women. As such, there is evidence to make the case that while women tend to be more concerned than men with blemishes, men are still somewhat concerned by them.

#### Image Use

In health persuasion, several studies have also looked the utility of including graphic images or photos along with messages. While no research has yet looked at the effects of graphic image use on safe sun behaviors when coupled with aging and blemish content, past research was able to inform Study 2. Study 2 sought to determine the utility of the use of graphic images in communicating the dangers of unsafe tanning behaviors. As such, one of the goals of Study 2 was to look at graphic image use and determine its potential utility as an effective method for encouraging safe sun behaviors.

Perhaps the best area of research to focus on in regards to the use of graphic images is that which has been done on the effectiveness of graphic warning labels on cigarette packaging.

These graphic warning labels tend to feature images showcasing the damaging effects of smoking (e.g. diseased lungs, discolored teeth, a stoma on a neck, etc.) Brought about by public policy shifts, the past decade or so has seen a substantial increase in research looking at the effects of image use on cigarette smoking. Hammond et al. (2004) surveyed Canadian citizens in 2001, shortly after the introduction of graphic warning labels to cigarette packages in Canada, to determine the effects of the policy change. Researchers found that 19% of those surveyed reported smoking less as a result of the graphic warning labels. Moreover, 44% of respondents reported experiencing at least some fear as a result of the graphics, and 58% reported feeling some sense of disgust. Additionally, it was also found that individuals who reported greater levels of fear and disgust were more likely to have read and thought about the warning messages on the cigarette packaging and were also more likely to have reduced their smoking, made an attempt to quit, or quit smoking entirely (Hammond et al., 2004).

Another study from O'Hegarty et al. (2006) looked at the effectiveness of graphic images on cigarette packaging using an American sample. In this study, both current and former smokers were asked to view both messages that were text-only and messages that involved both text and a graphic image. O'Hegarty et al. (2006) found that both current and former smokers found the text plus graphics packaging to be more of a deterrent for smoking than the text-only packaging. Likewise, it was found that both current and former smokers believed the text plus graphic packaging would be more effective in the areas of preventing individuals from starting to smoke, getting current smokers to stop, and maintaining abstinence from smoking for those who have quit.

Studies have also shown that the use of graphic images draws more visual attention from viewers. Peterson, Thomsen, Lindsay, and John (2010) used eye-tracking technology on middle

school students as they viewed anti-smoking magazine advertisements that consisted of either the traditional U.S. Surgeon General warning or the newer Canadian advertisements that featured graphic images. Following the eye-tracking, participants were asked to complete multiple recall exercises. Researchers found that while participants spent equal amounts of time viewing both types of advertisements, those that included the graphic images generated higher levels of visual attention directed specifically toward the message. It was also found that participants were more likely to accurately recall the advertisements featuring images than those consisting of basic text.

In a similar study, Strasser et al. (2012) utilized eye-tracking and recall exercises to determine the effectiveness of graphic cigarette warning labels for current smokers. Here, participants were randomly assigned to view either an advertisement that consisted of the traditional U.S. General Surgeon's warning text or included a graphic image. After viewing the message for 30 seconds, participants were asked to recall information about the advertisement. Strasser et al. (2012) found that those in the graphic image condition correctly recalled 83% of the information in their advertisement, compared to just 50% correct recall for those in the text-only advertisement. Researchers also found that the graphic image drew attention more quickly and resulted in greater dwell time (time spent looking).

While the overwhelming majority of the research on the use of graphic images in health persuasion is concentrated on the topic of smoking, there is evidence for its effectiveness elsewhere. A study from Bazzo et al. (2012) looked at the effect of graphic images on communicating the dangers of alcohol consumption for pregnant women. During a 30-day period in the city of Treviso, Italy, researchers put up numerous posters at hospitals, on buses, and at local bars and restaurants featuring a graphic image and message about the potential health problems that may result from the consumption of alcohol while pregnant. One year later, the

researchers followed up with residents of the city to determine the effectiveness of their graphic image posters. Bazzo et al. (2012) found that 93% of respondents indicated that they remembered the warning messages and 53% recalled the health behavior suggested by the campaign. The researchers concluded that this was a rather high level of visibility and declared the campaign as effective.

Despite the overwhelming evidence for the effectiveness of image-use in warning labels, there has been at least one study to report conflicting findings. Sabbane, Lowrey, and Chebat (2009) compared the effects of anti-smoking messages that consisted of text-only or text plus a graphic image on both U.S. and Canadian high school students. Researchers found that while the graphic image was most effective at lowering intention to smoke among Canadian participants, the findings were reversed for U.S. participants, with text-only messages being the most effective at lowering intention to smoke. Sabbane, Lowrey, and Chebat (2009) hypothesized that this disparate finding may have been the result of U.S. participants being unfamiliar with the use of graphic images on warning labels, while Canadian participants had been accustomed to seeing graphic images on warning labels.

Despite the aforementioned piece of contrary evidence, it seemed increasingly likely that the use of graphic images could serve to make messages directed at promoting safe tanning behaviors more effective. Given the overwhelming success of graphic images in the context of smoking and alcohol consumption, it appears that health persuasion is most effectively accomplished when images are added to the message under study. As there had yet to be any research looking at the use of graphic images on safe sun behaviors when in combination with aging and blemish messages, Study 2 was able to provide an important first step in determining the utility of such a technique. By coupling both images and text, we may hopefully have found a way to more effectively communicate the dangers of unsafe tanning behaviors.

#### Hypotheses

Study 2 used message type (i.e., message content focused on aging-related consequences of tanning and message content focused on blemish-related consequences of tanning), image use, and gender as independent variables, while assessing dependent variables for the frequency with which an individual intends to tan in the future and the length of time with which an individual intends to tan in the future and the length of time with which an individual intends to tan in the future. These dependent variables were again asked in terms of a high-end estimate (e.g. "When you are tanning most heavily, how many days per month would you be willing to sun-tan outdoors?"). However, as Study 1 produced significant findings for only the high-end frequency of sunbathing measure, and the high-end length of time measure did not look promising, hypotheses were only made concerning the high-end frequency measure. In addition, the following hypotheses were tested using reported prior high-end frequency of tanning as a covariate. This was done to ensure equality between groups.

*Hypothesis 1:* There will be a main effect of message type, such that groups receiving messages with blemish-related content will report a lower high-end frequency of intended sunbathing than groups receiving messages with aging-related content.

*Hypothesis 2:* There will be a main effect of gender, such that women will be more influenced by both of the appearance messages than men. This effect will be such that women in either the aging or blemish conditions will report lower high-end frequencies of intended sunbathing than men in the corresponding conditions.

*Hypothesis 3:* There will be a main effect of image use, such that messages including a graphic image will be more effective at reducing the high-end frequency of sunbathing than messages that do not include a graphic image.

*Hypothesis 4:* There will be an interaction effect, such that for men, the group receiving messages with blemish-related content will report a lower high-end frequency of intended sunbathing than the male groups receiving the aging-related content message.

## **Chapter 7 - Study 2 Method**

#### **Participants**

The study included 204 undergraduate students (age: M = 19.50) participating in an online study in exchange for course credit (54% male, 46% female). Roughly 81% of all participants indicated that they had previously sunbathed. For the purpose of analyses, only participants that had reported prior sunbathing were included (n = 166).

#### Measures

To assess past high-end tanning behavior, participants answered four questions concerning the high-end frequency of sunbathing, length of time spent sunbathing, time spent outside, and sunscreen use (see appendix D). Here, participants specified their frequency of sunbathing in terms of number of days (0-30) in a month, their length of time spent sunbathing or outside in terms of minutes, and their sunscreen use in terms of a percentage (0%-100%). Again, these behaviors were both gathered as a high-end estimate as described in Study 1. Using these measures of an individual's high-end behavior allowed us to look specifically at the most dangerous tanning behaviors. It should also be noted that the items for frequency and length of time of sunbathing were specifically asking participants about their experiences "In the past 12 months". Additionally, the items on time spent outside and sunscreen use were specifically asking participants what their experiences were "During the most recent summer". The items were phrased this way in an effort to avoid any sort of timing effect, given that the study took place during the fall. In addition to these questions, there were also two items asking participants to rate their agreement with the following statements: "Exposure to the sun's rays causes skin to look older (e.g. wrinkles, loose skin, liver spots)" and "Exposure to the sun's rays causes skin blemishes (e.g. moles, freckles, warts)".

After receiving the message, participants were also asked to answer four questions concerning their high-end intentions toward frequency of sunbathing, length of time spent sunbathing, time spent outside, and sunscreen use (see appendix E). Again, participants specified their intended high-end frequency of sunbathing in terms of number of days (0-30) in a month, their intended high-end length of time spent sunbathing and high-end time spent outdoors in terms of minutes, and their high-end sunscreen use in terms of percentage (0%-100%). As Hillhouse et al. (1997) conclude that measuring tanning intention is an adequate replacement for measuring actual tanning behavior, Study 2 is assessing tanning intentions rather than actual tanning behavior. In addition to these measures, the two aforementioned agreement items concerning aging and blemish effects in the pretest were included in the posttest as well.

### Procedure

After participants were successfully recruited, they completed an online survey. First, participants were asked about their current high-end tanning habits (frequency, length of time tanning and outside, sunscreen use), as well as their belief in the negative aging and blemish effects of tanning. Following that, each participant was randomly assigned to read one of four message types differing in terms of message content (see appendix F) and image use (see appendix G). The first message type focused on the aging-related negative consequences of tanning (e.g. "Wrinkles, liver spots, leathery skin, loose skin, and spider veins can all be traced to UV light exposure") and did not feature a graphic image. The second message type focused on those same aging-related consequences and included a graphic image of the aging effects of sun exposure. The third message type focused on the blemish-related negative consequences of tanning (e.g. "Freckles, moles, sunburns, peeling skin, a blotchy complexion, swollen eyelids and solar keratoses (thick wart-like, rough, reddish patches of skin), can all be traced to UV light

exposure") and did not include a graphic image. Lastly, the fourth message type focused on those same blemish-related consequences and included a graphic image of the blemish effects of sun exposure. All graphic images in this study were presented in color. The length of each message type was similar, with each message consisting of three paragraphs of information and participants were allowed to view the message as long as they liked. After participants finished reading the message, there was a quick manipulation check question asking participants what the message was about, and then participants were again asked to indicate their high-end future intentions regarding the frequency and length of sunbathing, amount of time spent outside, and sunscreen use. Participants were also asked to indicate their belief in the negative effects of tanning (aging and blemishes) after having read the message. Finally, participants completed demographic questions, were debriefed and the study concluded.

## **Chapter 8 - Study 2 Results**

At the conclusion of the study, the data was analyzed for possible differences using a 2 (message: aging/blemish) X 2 (gender: male/female) X 2 (photo: present or not present) ANCOVA on the dependent variable of high-end frequency of sunbathing (for the estimated marginal means, see Table 2). An ANCOVA was used here to covary the pretest measure of high-end frequency. In the analysis, it was found that there was no main effect of message type, F(1, 160) = 0.03, p = .87. Thus, hypothesis 1 which proposed that blemish messages would be more effective at reducing high-end frequency of sunbathing was not supported. Hypothesis 2, which proposed a main effect of gender, such that females would be more influenced by the messages than males, was also not supported, F(1, 160) = 1.93, p = .167. Hypothesis 3, however, which proposed a main effect of image, such that messages using a graphic image would be more effective than messages which did not use a graphic image, was supported, F(1,160 = 6.27, p = .01. It was found that those receiving a graphic image in their message reported significantly fewer high-end days that they intended to sunbathe (M = 6.96) than did those who did not receive a graphic image with their message (M = 9.13). Hypothesis 4 predicted an interaction effect between gender and message type such that males would report fewer high-end sunbathing days per month when viewing blemish messages than they would when viewing aging messages. Despite a finding of significance with this interaction, F(1, 160) = 3.94, p = .05, the hypothesis was not supported (see figure 2). It was found that males receiving aging messages reported fewer high-end sunbathing days per month (M = 6.50) than males who received blemish messages (M = 8.36). Interestingly, it was also seen that females receiving blemish messages reported fewer high-end sunbathing days per month (M = 7.87) than females receiving aging messages (M = 9.45). However, using a pairwise comparison revealed that

neither the difference between aging and blemish conditions for males, F(1, 160) = 2.12, p = .15, nor the difference between the aging and blemish conditions for females, F(1, 160) = 1.776, p = .19, appeared to be driving the finding of significance. Instead, it was found through a pairwise comparison that the difference between males and females for aging messages was driving the effect, F(1, 160) = 5.29, p = .02. The pairwise comparison revealed no significant difference between males and females for blemish messages, F(1, 160) = .17, p = .68.

Condition			М	SE
Aging	Image	Female	8.80	1.15
		Male	6.00	1.40
		Total	7.40	0.91
	No Image	Female	10.09	1.16
		Male	7.01	1.33
		Total	8.55	0.88
	Total	Male	6.50	0.98
		Female	9.45	0.82
		Total	7.98	0.63
Blemish	Image	Female	6.45	1.28
		Male	6.61	1.16
		Total	6.53	0.86
	No Image	Female	9.30	1.14
		Male	10.12	1.18
		Total	9.71	0.82
	Total	Female	7.87	0.86
		Male	8.36	0.83
		Total	8.12	0.60
Total	Image	Female	7.62	0.86
		Male	6.30	0.91
		Total	6.96	0.62
	No Image	Female	9.69	0.82
		Male	8.56	0.90
		Total	9.13	0.60
	Total	Female	8.66	0.59
		Male	7.43	0.64

 Table 2. Number of Days Intended to Sunbathe in Future High-End Months - Estimated

 Marginal Means



Figure 2. Number of high-end days per month that participants were willing to sunbathe after having read the message.

## **Chapter 9 - Study 2 Discussion**

Perhaps the most surprising finding from Study 2 comes from the interaction effect between gender and message type. As noted in the literature review, there is a substantial amount of evidence indicating that males tend to not care about looking older while women are greatly concerned with appearing older. However, judging from the results, this does not appear to be the case. It was found that males were significantly more impacted by messages focused on aging-related content than females were. While this notion comes as a surprise at first, there may be good rationale behind it. Importantly, before participants had read any messages, they were asked to respond to two items measured on a 7-point Likert scale that asked them to rate their level of agreement with the following statements, "Exposure to the sun's rays causes skin to look severely older" and "Exposure to the sun's rays causes severe skin blemishes". In a oneway ANOVA looking at the role of gender on these two dependent variables, it was revealed that there was significant difference between males and females on the aging question F(1, 203) =7.47, p = .01, but not on the blemish question, F(1, 203) = 1.00, p = .318. For the aging item, it appeared that females (M = 5.07, SD = 1.39) had a significantly stronger initial belief in the aging effects of sun exposure than did males (M = 4.56, SD = 1.28).

This finding of females having a stronger belief in the negative aging effects of sun exposure is not unique to Study 2. Cafri et al. (2008) also found that female participants reported stronger beliefs in the aging effects of sun exposure than did male participants. Similarly, Yan et al. (2015) conducted a study using Chinese residents and found that 73.3% of females reported knowledge about the aging effects of sun exposure, compared to just 59.7% of males. Additionally, as part of a study looking at gender differences in the perception of aging, famed fashion company Yves Saint Laurent (YSL) found that nearly two thirds of females said that they were aging better than their partner, while 59% of men said the same (Jones, 2013). A spokesperson for YSL reasoned that, "Women have always been much more aware of the aging process and as a result this may mean they are making provisions that men aren't", and notes that, "Females have had it drummed in to them about the effects that things smoking, sun exposure and a bad diet can have on their skin and overall appearance" (Jones, 2013). This information may explain, at least in part, the surprising interaction effect from Study 2. If females are already aware of the aging effects of sun exposure, presenting a message focusing on such information may not have much of an impact. However, if males do not know about the aging effects of sun exposure, that allows the aging-related messages to present new information to them that can lead to lowering future high-end intentions to sunbathe.

The aforementioned interaction effect, as well as the finding that females had a stronger belief in the negative aging effects of sun exposure may also explain the other findings in the analyses. Hypothesis 1 proposed a main effect of message type, such that blemish messages would be found to be more effective than aging messages. However, as noted above, there was no finding of significance for message type. While it was believed prior to the study that aging messages would have little to no impact on males based on prior research (Halliwell & Dittmar, 2003; Homan & Boyatzis, 2009; Sargent-Cox, Rippon, & Burns, 2014), the results revealed this was clearly not the case. As such, it is unsurprising that hypothesis 1 was not supported. In addition, hypothesis 2 which proposed a main effect of gender, such that females would find either appearance message to be more effective than males would, was also unsupported. This hypothesis was based on prior research which has revealed that females tend to care about their appearance to a greater extent than males do. However, if females are already aware of and taking precautions to avoid the negative aging effects of sun exposure, the aging-related

messages presented in the study are unlikely to have as much of an effect on them. As such, this difference in knowledge of the negative aging effects of sun exposure makes the lack of support for hypothesis 2 understandable.

Hypothesis 3, which proposed a main effect of image use, such that messages including a graphic image would be more effective at reducing high-end sunbathing frequency than messages not including a graphic image, was supported in Study 2. Given the effectiveness of graphic image use in prior studies on smoking and alcohol, Study 2 provides support for the use of such images in a new domain. Future research may be necessary to determine what other domains the use of graphic images may be applied to. Additionally, as noted by Brown and Richardson (2012), overly graphic images may cause viewers to avert attention to the image, so as to reduce stress. Future research may need to address the point on the topic area of sun-safety as to what effect overly graphic images may have. As the findings here indicate though, graphic image use represents a promising persuasion method for enhancing the effectiveness of sun-safety messages.

While past research has examined the effectiveness of appearance messages in comparison with health messages in reducing unsafe tanning behaviors, there has been a lack of research on which aspects of appearance appeals are most effective. Study 2 provides insight into that issue by comparing the use of aging-related content and blemish-related content, as well as by identifying a major gender difference. This research will hopefully allow us to market campaigns to promote safe tanning behaviors more effectively. For instance, with the finding that males are more impacted by aging-related messages, perhaps future interventions aimed at reducing unsafe tanning behaviors should emphasize details such as wrinkles, liver spots, and loose skin, especially when targeting a male audience. Such an effort could lead to decreasing

the rapidly growing incidence rate of melanoma in the U.S, at least among males. For females, however, it appears that more research is necessary to determine the best way to prevent unsafe tanning behaviors. Perhaps future research could consider the use of alternative types of content, such as focusing on specific health issues associated with tanning and UV exposure.

As for potential limitations of Study 2, it should be noted that there may be possible issues with the use of graphic images. Both the aging message and blemish message in Study 2 contained a photo of a female that was undergoing skin problems. Given that Study 2 was looking at gender differences between participants, it may be possible that the gender of the subject in the graphic image had an effect on participants' perceptions and intentions. Future research might want to include the gender of the subject in graphic images as an independent variable to see if male and female participants are impacted differently by the gender of the image's subject. Additionally, perhaps altering the age of the subject in a graphic image may produce different results. It may be possible that participants in Study 2 believed the subjects of the graphic images to be of different ages, which may have led to differing effects. Again, this represents another idea for future research to consider. Another potential issue concerning the graphic images that were used is that they differed in terms of the permanence of each issue. For instance, the aging image showed wrinkles, something that isn't likely to go away for an individual. Alternatively, the blemish image showed a sunburn and blistered skin, things which are not permanent. It certainly may be possible that the permanence of aging effects might have been what was driving the effect for men, rather than the aging effects themselves. Future research may consider controlling for the permanence of skin issues in such images or consider teasing those aspects apart. Finally, there may have been an issue with participants thinking of certain aging effects as blemishes. For instance, it's possible that some participants may have

interpreted liver spots to be more associated with blemishes than with aging. Given the manipulation checks used in the study though, it does not appear that any such issues impacted participants from correctly identifying the message as either focused on "aging" or "blemishes".

Study 2 provides insight into the best methods for communicating the consequences of unsafe tanning behavior. While research may indicate that aging-related messages would be more effective for females than they would for males, Study 2 offers alternative evidence. In that same vein, this alternative evidence contributes to the current literature on gender differences in tanning, which, at the moment, appears to be lacking. As aging-related messages were found to be effective for males, it indicates that, for males, appearance appeals for decreasing unsafe tanning behaviors may need to focus on aging-related content for future research and implementation. Similarly, the finding that aging-related messages are relatively ineffective for females appears to indicate that research and implementation of sun-safety messaging may need to pursue alternative message content. Taken together, Study 2 appears to illustrate that sun-safety messaging may not have a "one-size fits all" solution. In other words, while producing appeals that can effectively reach both a male and female audience is much easier and more preferable, it may simply not be an effective way to promote safe-sun behaviors. Given apparent gender differences in the knowledge and perception of the effects of sun exposure, perhaps more individualized and targeted messaging would be a more effective option. Additionally, based on the current findings, research may also need to focus on gender differences in knowledge and beliefs about negative aging effects in other topic areas, such as smoking or dieting. Such research would also provide insight into the need for individualized messaging in other domains.

## **Chapter 10 - General Discussion**

When thinking about the findings from both Study 1 and Study 2, it may appear that they do not fit well together at first, but in reality, the findings do seem to make sense. In Study 1, it was found that females who received appearance messages (M = 9.18) reported fewer high-end sunbathing days than females who received health messages (M = 12.06). In Study 2, it was found that females receiving blemish messages (M = 7.87) reported fewer high-end sunbathing days than females who received aging messages (M = 9.45). As we can see, the mean for frequency of high-end sunbathing for females receiving appearance messages in Study 1 is right in-between the means for aging and blemish messages in Study 2. While the means may hint at blemish messages being more effective, and perhaps driving the effectiveness of the appearance messages in Study 1, there is no concrete evidence for this at the time.

Additionally, what Study 2 found was that the difference between males and females who received aging messages was primarily what was driving the interaction effect. This was such that males (M = 6.50) reported significantly lower high-end sunbathing days than women (M = 9.45). As mentioned above, the difference between female intentions for appearance messages in Study 1 and aging messages in Study 2 is not very large, however, the difference between male intentions for appearance messages in Study 1 (M = 11.22) and aging messages in Study 2 (M = 6.50) does appear to be quite large. One possible explanation for this apparently large difference would be that the blemish content in Study 1 was hurting the effectiveness of the appearance message. However, given the effect of the blemish message by itself in Study 2 (M = 8.36), that seems unlikely. Another possibility would be that the use of graphic images in Study 2 improved the overall effectiveness of both aging and blemish messages for male participants. While the main effect of graphic image use supports this idea, there isn't quite enough

information to confirm that this is the cause. A third possibility is simply that when combining both aging and blemish content together for male viewers, the effectiveness of each type of content is lessened. It is certainly possible that combining both types of content may lead to males thinking less about either of them than they would if the content were the sole focus of a message, however, future research would need to further investigate this idea to determine if this were the case.

The primary purpose of this thesis was to further examine the current types of appeals that are being used to reduce unsafe tanning behaviors. Ultimately, the goal of the research project was to determine which appeals were most effective for each gender in an effort to provide more effective communication strategies for promoting safe tanning behaviors. Such research may be able to reduce the number of deaths occurring each year in the U.S. due to skin cancer, a number that the AAD (2016) estimates to be over 10,000. In Study 1, both appearance and health messages were researched as possible interventions to reduce the intention to sunbathe. Contrary to the initial hypothesis, it was found that there was no significant difference between appearance and health messages in terms of their effectiveness in reducing future intentions for either the high-end length of time spent sunbathing, or the high-end frequency of sunbathing. What Study 1 did find, however, was an interaction effect between gender and message type. This interaction effect was such that females receiving appearance messages reported fewer high-end days per month that they would be willing to sunbathe. Initially, what this finding appeared to indicate was that safe sun messages for females should focus on appearance, rather than health, and that safe sun messages for males could focus on either type of content without a noticeable difference in effectiveness. However, it was noticed afterwards that the appearance messages used in Study 1 contained content for both aging and blemishes. As

such, a decision was made to conduct a follow-up study that separated these types of content to determine which aspect of appearance may have been driving the interaction effect in Study 1.

As mentioned, Study 2's primary goal was to tease apart the aging and blemish aspects of the appearance message in Study 1. In addition, Study 2 also included the use of graphic images in an initial effort to determine the effectiveness of such an intervention on the topic of safe sun behaviors. While the success of graphic image use has been widely studied with large amounts of success on the topic area of smoking, there has yet to be research linking graphic image use to safe sun behaviors. Using a similar procedure to Study 1, Study 2 looked at the effects of these two variables (message content & graphic image use) across genders. After gathering data from participants, it was found that there was no main effect of message type or gender; however, there was evidence for a main effect of graphic image use and an interaction effect between gender and message type. This interaction was such that males receiving aging messages reported significantly fewer high-end sunbathing days than females receiving those same messages. The main effect of graphic image use points towards the potential utility of applying such images to safe sun materials in the future. More research is certainly necessary on the use of graphic images for safe sun behaviors, but Study 2 represents a critical first step in the process. The interaction effect between gender and message type appears to primarily be explained by the finding that females had a much higher knowledge on how tanning causes skin to look aged than males did. With females already being informed about such information, the aging message in the study does not provide much new information to them. Males, however, reported much lower knowledge about the aging effects of tanning than women did. As such, the aging messages presented in this study were able to supply males with much more new

information that may have impacted their future intentions. This represents a promising area for future research and theory to consider.

Future research should be done to further examine the aspects of appearance messages that make them more effective, as well as health messages to see if certain aspects such as skin cancer, immune suppression, or eye damage are more effective at reducing unsafe tanning behaviors than others. Future research might also consider applying such methods to other behaviors, such as smoking or substance abuse. Of course, as was the case with both Study 1 and Study 2 in this project, it would be advisable to analyze any results by gender to determine what interventions strategies are most effective for both males and females. This could hopefully lead to effectively reducing the number of people that are negatively impacted by issues such as tanning, smoking, and substance abuse in the U.S. In regards to studies one and two in this project, it should be mentioned that the participant pool used in both studies offers a chance to generalize findings to populations both in the U.S. and globally. As the AAD (2016) reports that tanning is most popular among young adults, using undergraduate participants is particularly appropriate. However, it should also be noted that there are potential limitations to the current project. As is often the case when using measures of intention in place of measures of behavior, there is the question of whether or not an intervention can actually cause behavioral change. Despite Hillhouse et al. (1997) reporting tanning intentions to be a suitable replacement for behavioral measures, it is possible that the interventions used in studies one and two may not lead to actual behavioral change. To know for certain that intentions would lead to behavioral change, it may be necessary to include an alternative measure of behavior, such as a follow-up self-report from participants.

In regards to the importance of this project, the results found here have multiple implications for future safe sun interventions. First, as was noted in Study 2, it appears that interventions for a male audience need to focus on aging effects when it comes to safe sun materials, as it is likely that they don't have much prior knowledge of such dangers. For females, however, it appears that using messages focusing on aging effects may not be the best intervention. Instead, based on the findings from Study 1, it appears that a message including both aging and blemish content may be the more effective option. As was noted in Study 2, females already have a fairly good idea of the kind of damage that UV exposure can do to their skin, so researchers might wish to focus on alternative methods for effectively reducing unsafe tanning behaviors in females. Such efforts may provide some insight into the most effective intervention methods for promoting safe sun behaviors for females, and possibly even indicate some additional intervention methods for males. Additionally, it also was shown in Study 2 that graphic image use represents a promising new tool in safe sun research. Future research may wish to see exactly under what conditions graphic image use is and is not appropriate. By further investigating and applying the findings from this project, it may be possible to lower the incidence rate of skin cancer and produce a healthier culture in the U.S. when it comes to sun safety behaviors.

## References

- Abar, B. W., Turrisi, R., Hillhouse, J., Loken, E., Stapleton, J., & Gunn, H. (2010). Preventing skin cancer in college females: Heterogeneous effects over time. *Health Psychology*, 29(6), 574-582. doi: 10.1037/a0021236
- American Academy of Dermatology. *Skin cancer*. Retrieved March 19, 2016, from https://www.aad.org/media-resources/stats-and-facts/conditions/skin-cancer
- Ando, S. & Osada, H. (2009). Age and gender differences in body image over the life span: Relationships between physical appearance, health and functioning. *The Japanese Journal of Health Psychology*, 22(2), 1-16. doi:10.11560/jahp.22.2\_1
- Basch, C. H., Hillyer, G. C., Basch, C. E., & Neugut, A. I. (2012). Improving understanding about tanning behaviors in college students: A pilot study. *Journal of American College Health*, 60(3), 250-256. doi: 10.1080/07448481.2011.596872
- Bazzo, S., Battistella, G., Riscica, P., Moino, G., Marini, F., Geromel, M., & Czerwinsky, L. (2012). Evaluation of the impact of the image used in a communication campaign to raise awareness about the effects of alcohol use during pregnancy. *Alcohol and Alcoholism*, 47(6), 657-662.
- Beasley, T. M., & Kittel, B. S. (1997). Factors that influence health risk behaviors among tanning salon patrons. *Evaluation & the Health Professions*, 20(4), 371-388.
- Brown, S. L., & Richardson, M. (2012). The effect of distressing imagery on attention to and persuasiveness of an antialcohol message: A gaze-tracking approach. *Health Education* & *Behavior*, 39(1), 8-17.
- Cafri, G., Thompson, J. K., Roehrig, M., Rojas, A., Sperry, S., Jacobsen, P. B., & Hillhouse, J. (2008). Appearance motives to tan and not tan: Evidence for validity and reliability of a new scale. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 35(2), 209-20. doi: 10.1007/s12160-008-9022-2
- Day, A. K., Wilson, C. J., Hutchinson, A. D., & Roberts, R. M. (2016). Australian young adults' tanning behaviour: The role of ideal skin tone and sociocultural norms. *Australian Journal of Psychology*, doi.org/10.1111/ajpy.12121
- Darlow, S. D., Heckman, C. J., & Munshi, T. (2016). Tan and thin? associations between attitudes toward thinness, motives to tan and tanning behaviors in adolescent girls. *Psychology, Health & Medicine, 21*(5), 618-624.
- Dennis, L. K., VanBeek, M. J., Beane Freeman, L. E., Smith, B. J., Dawson, D. V., & Coughlin, J. A. (2008). Sunburns and risk of cutaneous melanoma, does age matter: a comprehensive meta-analysis. *Annals of Epidemiology*, 18(8), 614–627. doi.org/10.1016/j.annepidem.2008.04.006

- Goldenberg, J. L., & Arndt, J. (2008). The implications of death for health: A terror management health model for behavioral health promotion. *Psychological Review*, *115*(4), 1032-1053.
- Grogan, S., Fry, G., Gough, B., & Conner, M. (2009). Smoking to stay thin or giving up to save face? young men and women talk about appearance concerns and smoking. *British Journal of Health Psychology*, 14(1), 175-186. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1348/135910708X327617
- Halliwell, E., & Dittmar, H. (2003). A qualitative investigation of women's and men's body image concerns and their attitudes toward aging. *Sex Roles*, *49*(11), 675-684.
- Hammond, D., Fong, G. T., McDonald, P. W., Brown, S., & Cameron, R. (2004). Graphic canadian cigarette warning labels and adverse outcomes: Evidence from canadian smokers. *American Journal of Public Health*, 94(8), 1442-5.
- Heckman, C. J., Wilson, D. B., & Ingersoll, K. S. (2009). The influence of appearance, health, and future orientations on tanning behavior. *American Journal of Health Behavior*, 33(3), 238-43.
- Hillhouse, J. J., Adler, C. M., Drinnon, J., & Turrisi, R. (1997). Application of azjen's theory of planned behavior to predict sunbathing, tanning salon use, and sunscreen use intentions and behaviors. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 20(4), 365-78. doi: 10.1023/A:1025517130513
- Hillhouse, J. J., Turrisi, R., & Kastner, M. (2000). Modeling tanning salon behavioral tendencies using appearance motivation, self-monitoring and the theory of planned behavior. *Health Education Research*, *15*(4), 405-414.
- Homan, K. J., & Boyatzis, C. J. (2009). Body image in older adults: Links with religion and gender. *Journal of Adult Development*, 16(4), 230-238. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10804-009-9069-8
- Jackson, K. M., & Aiken, L. S. (2006). Evaluation of a multicomponent appearance-based sunprotective intervention for young women: Uncovering the mechanisms of program efficacy. *Health Psychology*, 25(1), 34-46. doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.25.1.34
- Jones, T. "Good News Girls ... We Are FINALLY Ageing Better than Men (but One in 10 Women Still Worry That Their Partner Will Leave Them for a Younger Model)." *Daily Mail Online*. Associated Newspapers, 23 Jan. 2013. Web. 20 Dec. 2016.
- Jones, J. L., & Leary, M. R. (1994). Effects of appearance-based admonitions against sun exposure on tanning intentions in young adults. *Health Psychology*, *13*(1), 86-90. doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.13.1.86

- Kellett, S.C., Gawkrodger, D.J. (1999). The psychological and emotional impact of acne and the effect of treatment with isotretinoin. *British Journal of Dermatology*, *140*(2), 273-282. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2133.1999.02662.x
- Lawler, S., Sugiyama, T., & Owen, N. (2007). Sun exposure concern, sun protection behaviors and physical activity among australian adults. *Cancer Causes & Control*, 18(9), 1009-1014. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10552-007-9041-5
- Leary, M. R., Saltzman, J. L., & Georgeson, J. C. (1997). Appearance motivation, obsessivecompulsive tendencies and excessive suntanning in a community sample. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 2(4), 493-499. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/135910539700200406
- Loosemore, E., & Grogan, S. (2015). Men's accounts of reactions to two sources of information on negative effects of UV exposure: Facial morphing and a health promotion fact sheet. *International Journal of Men's Health*, 14(2), 183-196.
- Mahler, H. I. M., Fitzpatrick, B., Parker, P., & Lapin, A. (1997). The relative effects of a healthbased versus an appearance-based intervention designed to increase sunscreen use. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 11(6), 426-429.
- Mays, D., & Zhao, X. (2015). The influence of framed messages and self-affirmation on indoor tanning behavioral intentions in 18- to 30-year-old women. *Health Psychology*, doi: 10.1037/hea0000253
- Morris, K. L., Cooper, D. P., Goldenberg, J. L., Arndt, J., & Gibbons, F. X. (2014). Improving the efficacy of appearance-based sun exposure interventions with the terror management health model. *Psychology & Health*, 29(11), 1245-1264. doi: 10.1080/08870446.2014.922184
- Muth, J. L., & Cash, T. F. (1997). Body-image attitudes: What difference does gender make? *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 27(16), 1438-1452.
- O'Hegarty, M., Pederson, L. L., Nelson, D. E., Mowery, P., Gable, J. M., & Wortley, P. (2006). Reactions of young adult smokers to warning labels on cigarette packages. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *30*(6), 467-473.
- Panek, P. E., Hayslip, B., Jr., & Pruett, J. H. (2014). How do you know you're old? gender differences in cues triggering the experience of personal aging. *Educational Gerontology*, 40(3), 157-171. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/03601277.2013.802183
- Peterson, E. B., Thomsen, S., Lindsay, G., & John, K. (2010). Adolescents' attention to traditional and graphic tobacco warning labels: An eye-tracking approach. *Journal of Drug Education*, 40(3), 227-244.
- Pliner, P., Chaiken, S., & Flett, G. L. (1990). Gender differences in concern with body weight and physical appearance over the life span. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*,

*16*(2), 263-273. Retrieved from <u>http://search.proquest.com.er.lib.k-state.edu/docview/617779203?accountid=11789</u>

- Sabbane, L. I., Lowrey, T. M., & Chebat, J. (2009). The effectiveness of cigarette warning label threats on nonsmoking adolescents. *The Journal of Consumer Affairs*, 43(2), 332-345.
- Sargent-Cox, K., Rippon, M., & Burns, R. A. (2014). Measuring anxiety about aging across the adult lifespan. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 26(1), 135-45. doi: 10.1017/S1041610213001798
- Skin Cancer Foundation. (2012). One tanning session raises melanoma risk by 20 percent. Sun & Skin News, 29(3).
- Skin Cancer Foundation. (2016). *Skin cancer facts*. Retrieved March 19, 2016, from <u>http://www.skincancer.org/skin-cancer-information/skin-cancer-facts</u>
- Stapleton, J., Turrisi, R., Hillhouse, J., Robinson, J. K., & Abar, B. (2010). A comparison of the efficacy of an appearance-focused skin cancer intervention within indoor tanner subgroups identified by latent profile analysis. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 33(3), 181-90. doi: 10.1007/s10865-009-9246-z
- Strasser, A. A., Tang, K. Z., Romer, D., Jepson, C., & Cappella, J. N. (2012). Graphic warning labels in cigarette advertisements: Recall and viewing patterns. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 43(1), 41-47.
- Thomas, K., Hevey, D., Pertl, M., Chuinneagáin, S. N., Craig, A., & Maher, L. (2011). Appearance matters: The frame and focus of health messages influences beliefs about skin cancer. *British Journal of Health Psychology*, 16(2), 418-429. doi: 10.1348/135910710X520088
- Wilcox, S. (1997). Age and gender in relation to body attitudes: Is there a double standard of aging? *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 21(4), 549-565. Retrieved from <a href="http://search.proquest.com.er.lib.k-state.edu/docview/619177036?accountid=11789">http://search.proquest.com.er.lib.k-state.edu/docview/619177036?accountid=11789</a>
- Wu, S., Han, J., Laden, F., & Qureshi, A. (2014) Long-term ultraviolet flux, other potential risk factors and skin cancer risk: A cohort study. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention*, 23(6), 1-10. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-13-0821
- Yan, S., Xu, F., Yang, C., Li, F., Fan, J., Wang, L., Cai, M., Zhu, J., Kan, H., & Xu, J. (2015). Demographic differences in sun protection beliefs and behavior: A community-based study in Shanghai, China. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 12(6), 3232-3245. doi: 10.3390/ijerph120303232
- Yoo, J., & Kim, H. (2014). Perceived negative health effect of tanning: The interface between tanning attitudes and behaviors. *Clothing & Textiles Research Journal*, 32(1), 6-19. doi: 10.1177/0887302X13510601

## **Appendix A - Study 1 Pretest**

For the following questions, please reflect back on the times in your life that you were tanning the most.

When you were tanning the most, how many days per month did you sun-tan outdoors (0-30)?

When you were tanning the most, how long did you sun-tan for each time (in hours and minutes; ex. 45 minutes, 1 hour and 30 minutes, 4 hours)?

## **Appendix B - Study 1 Posttest**

For the following questions, please think about the MOST amount of time that you are willing to spend tanning in the future.

When you are tanning most heavily, how many days per month would you be willing to sun-tan outdoors (0-30)?

When you are tanning most heavily, how long would you be willing to sun-tan for each time (in hours and minutes; ex. 45 minutes, 1 hour and 30 minutes, 4 hours)?

Demo	graphic information	
Age:	years	

Weight: \_\_\_\_\_lbs.

Height: \_\_\_\_\_ft. \_\_\_\_in.

Ethnicity:

Gender: \_\_\_\_ Male \_\_\_\_ Female \_\_\_\_Other

## Appendix C - Study 1 Appearance and Health Messages

#### **Appearance Message:**

Use of indoor tanning beds, or failure to take proper precautions when exposed to the sun's rays, such as failure to apply sunscreen, can result in significant harm to your skin. Without protection from the ultraviolet (UV) rays produced by the sun, as well as tanning beds, just a few minutes of exposure each day over the years can cause noticeable changes to your skin. Freckles, age spots, spider veins on the face, rough and leathery skin, fine wrinkles that disappear when stretched, loose skin, a blotchy complexion, and actinic keratoses (thick wart-like, rough, reddish patches of skin), can all be traced to UV light exposure. Maintaining improper protection from UV rays can make you more susceptible to all of these issues, and leave your skin with some serious damage.

"Photoaging" is the term dermatologists use to describe this type of aging caused by exposure to UV rays. Photoaging occurs over a period of years. With repeated exposure to the sun, the skin loses the ability to repair itself, and the damage accumulates. Scientific studies have shown that repeated UV exposure breaks down collagen and impairs the synthesis of new collagen. The sun also attacks our elastin. Sun-weakened skin ceases to spring back much earlier than skin protected from UV rays. Skin also becomes loose, wrinkled, and leathery much earlier with unprotected exposure to UV rays.

By not reducing the amount of indoor tanning that you do, or failing to properly apply sunscreen and not limiting the amount of time that you spend exposed to sun's rays, you're leaving yourself open to the negative effects that tanning can have on your appearance. Your skin may begin looking rougher, more leathery, and you may develop one or many of the known blemishes that tanning can cause. So next time that you're thinking about tanning, just remember all of the harm that you may be doing to your skin.

#### **Health Message:**

Use of indoor tanning beds, or failure to take proper precautions when exposed to the sun's rays, such as failure to apply sunscreen, can result in significant harm to your health. Ultraviolet (UV) light exposure is the leading cause of skin cancer. According to the American Cancer Society, "Many of the more than 1 million skin cancers diagnosed each year could be prevented with protection from the sun's rays." Scientists now know that exposure to the UV rays damages DNA in the skin. When a person's body cannot repair the damaged DNA, which can occur with cumulative sun exposure, cancer develops. Maintaining improper protection from UV rays can make you more susceptible to skin cancer, which can result in death.

The two main types of skin cancer are melanoma and non-melanoma cancer. Melanoma is the more dangerous of the two, and accounts for most of the deaths due to skin cancer each year. Non-melanomas occur in the basal or squamous cells located at the base of the epidermis, and often develop in sun-exposed areas of the body, including the face, ears, neck, lips, and the backs of hands. Exposure to UV light can also weaken the immune system and compromise the

body's natural defenses against aggressive cancer cells. Maintaining improper protection from UV rays can make you more susceptible to both melanoma and non-melanoma cancer.

By not reducing the amount of indoor tanning that you do, or failing to properly apply sunscreen and not limiting the amount of time that you spend exposed to sun's rays, you're leaving yourself open to the negative effects that tanning can have on your health. You're putting yourself at risk for developing skin cancer, which has been shown to result in serious health complications, or even death. So next time that you're thinking about tanning, just remember all of the harm that you may be doing to your health.

## **Appendix D - Study 2 Pretest**

For the following questions, please reflect back on the times in your life that you were tanning the most.

In the past 12 months, when you were tanning the most, how many days per month did you sun-tan outdoors (0-30)?

In the past 12 months, when you were tanning the most, how long did you sun-tan for each time (in hours and minutes; ex. 45 minutes, 1 hour and 30 minutes, 4 hours)?

During the most recent summer, when you were outside the most, how many hours per day did you spend outside doing activities other than tanning (in hours and minutes; ex. 45 minutes, 1 hour and 30 minutes, 4 hours)?

During the most recent summer, when you were outside the most, what percentage of the time did you wear sunscreen (0%-100%)?

Please rate your level of agreement with each of the following statements.

Exposure to the sun's rays causes skin blemishes (e.g. moles, freckles, warts)? Strongly disagree Disagree Neither agree nor disagree Agree Strongly Agree

Exposure to the sun's rays causes skin to look older (e.g. wrinkles, loose skin, liver spots)? Strongly disagree Disagree Neither agree nor disagree Agree Strongly Agree

## **Appendix E - Study 2 Posttest**

In a sentence or two, please try to summarize the main point of the message that you just read.

For the following questions, please think about the MOST amount of time that you intend to spend tanning in the future.

In the future, when you are tanning most heavily, how many days per month do you intend to sun-tan outdoors (0-30)?

In the future, when you are tanning most heavily, how long do you intend to sun-tan for each time (in hours and minutes; ex. 45 minutes, 1 hour and 30 minutes, 4 hours)?

During future summers, when you are outdoors the most, how many hours per day do you intend to spend outside doing activities other than tanning (in hours and minutes; ex. 45 minutes, 1 hour and 30 minutes, 4 hours)?

During future summers, when you are outside the most, what percentage of the time do you intend to wear sunscreen when you are outdoors (0%-100%)?

Please rate your level of agreement with each of the following statements.

Exposure to the sun's rays causes skin blemishes (e.g. moles, freckles, warts)? Strongly disagree Disagree Neither agree nor disagree Agree Strongly Agree

Exposure to the sun's rays causes skin to look older (e.g. wrinkles, loose skin, liver spots)? Strongly disagree Disagree Neither agree nor disagree Agree Strongly Agree

Demographic information Age: \_\_\_\_\_ years Weight: \_\_\_\_\_ lbs.

Height: \_\_\_\_\_ft. \_\_\_\_in.

Ethnicity:

Gender: \_\_\_\_\_ Male \_\_\_\_\_ Female \_\_\_\_Other

## Appendix F - Study 2 Aging and Blemish Messages

### **Aging Message:**

Failure to take proper precautions when exposed to the sun's rays, such as failure to apply sunscreen, can result in significant aging to your skin. Without protection from the ultraviolet (UV) rays produced by the sun, just a few minutes of exposure each day over the years can cause noticeable changes to your skin. Wrinkles, liver spots, leathery skin, loose skin, and spider veins can all be traced to UV light exposure. Maintaining improper protection from UV rays can make you more susceptible to all of these issues, and leave your skin looking much older.

"Photoaging" is the term dermatologists use to describe this type of aging caused by exposure to UV rays. Photoaging occurs over a period of years. With repeated exposure to the sun, the skin loses the ability to repair itself, and the damage accumulates. Scientific studies have shown that repeated UV exposure breaks down collagen and impairs the synthesis of new collagen. The sun also attacks our elastin. Sun-weakened skin ceases to spring back much earlier than skin that is protected from UV rays. Skin also becomes loose, wrinkled, and leathery much earlier with unprotected exposure to UV rays.

In order to protect yourself from these potentially harmful effects of UV rays, dermatologists recommend using sunscreen every time that you go outside. It is also recommended to use a sunscreen with an SPF of at least 30. By failing to properly apply sunscreen and not limiting the amount of time that you spend exposed to sun's rays, you're leaving yourself open to the negative aging effects that tanning can have on your appearance. Your skin may begin looking more wrinkled and leathery than it should at your age. So next time that you're thinking about tanning, just remember all of the harm that you may be doing to your skin.

#### **Blemish Message:**

Failure to take proper precautions when exposed to the sun's rays, such as failure to apply sunscreen, can result in significant blemishes and marks on your skin. Without protection from the ultraviolet (UV) rays produced by the sun, just a few minutes of exposure each day over the years can cause noticeable changes to your skin. Freckles, moles, sunburns, peeling skin, a blotchy complexion, swollen eyelids and solar keratoses (thick wart-like, rough, reddish patches of skin), can all be traced to UV light exposure. Maintaining improper protection from UV rays can make you more susceptible to all of these issues, and leave your skin with some serious blemishes.

For example, sunburns happen when UV rays reach your skin and damage cells in the epidermis. In response, your immune system increases blood flow to the affected areas. The increased blood flow is what gives a sunburn its characteristic redness and makes the skin feel warm to the touch. At the same time, the damaged skin cells release chemicals that send messages through the body until they are translated as a painful burning sensation by the brain. White blood cells, which help protect you from infection and disease, attack and remove the

damaged skin cells. It is this process of removing damaged cells that can cause sunburned skin to itch and peel.

In order to protect yourself from these potentially harmful effects of UV rays, dermatologists recommend using sunscreen every time that you go outside. It is also recommended to use a sunscreen with an SPF of at least 30. By failing to properly apply sunscreen and not limiting the amount of time that you spend exposed to sun's rays, you're leaving yourself open to the negative blemishes and marks that tanning can cause on your appearance. Your may begin developing sunburns, peeling skin, or a blotchy complexion. So next time that you're thinking about tanning, just remember all of the harm that you may be doing to your skin.

# **Appendix G - Graphic Images**

Aging Image



**Blemish Image** 

